1988

Mary Munns v. Lowell Shelley Munns : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF COURT OF APPEALS

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this appeal based on Utah Code Annotated section 78-2a-3(2)(h), which grants to the Utah Court of Appeals appellate jurisdiction over "appeals from District Court involving domestic relations cases ..."

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This appeal is from the final findings of fact and conclusions of law and absolute decree of divorce entered by the First Judicial District Court, Box Elder County; specifically the trial court's rulings concerning failure to award attorney's fees, the amount of alimony and the length of time alimony is payable, and the amount and nature of property distribution of the assets of the marriage.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion when it failed to award plaintiff her attorney's fees from

defendant, when her only liquid assets were an award of total child support of \$394.00 per month and an alimony award of \$300.00 per month?

2. Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion when it awarded alimony in the amount of \$300.00 per month to terminate when the plaintiff reached the age of 62, (within three years of the date of the decree), when the term of the marriage was in excess of 38 years, plaintiff has extremely limited employment skills, and the defendant has a career position paying him in excess of \$27,000.00 per year?

3. Was it an abuse of discretion for the Trial Court to award all property in kind, and not require that the properties be sold and the proceeds split between the parties or used to liquidate obligations of the marriage; to award to the defendant an oversized portion of the marital property, including all assets which could quickly be converted to cash; and to allow defendant a two-year period in which to pay to plaintiff the judgment representing the offsetting value of the properties?

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES
ORDINANCES, AND RULES**

Utah Code Annotated Section 30-3-5(1)

Utah Code Annotated Section 78-2a-3(2)(h).

(Full text of each statute is included in the Addendum)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case is an appeal from final findings of fact and conclusions of law, and an absolute decree of divorce, which adjudged the parties divorced, assigned custody of the minor children, established the amount of alimony and child support to be paid, and divided the marital property of the parties. Plaintiff appeals from the Judgment of the court concerning the issues of alimony, property distribution, and denial of attorneys fees.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

1. Plaintiff filed her complaint for divorce on July 31, 1986. (R001)
2. On September 23, 1986, defendant filed his answer and counterclaim. (R019)
3. Plaintiff's reply to defendant's answer and counterclaim was filed on October 16, 1986. (R025)
4. Plaintiff's Order to Show Cause was heard by the Court on September 22, 1986. At that time the Court awarded plaintiff the custody of the minor children of the marriage; temporary use of the home, along with household furnishings in her possession and her "motor vehicle" (which motor vehicle was not specified); \$400.00 per month for temporary alimony; \$168.00 per month per child for child support for a total of \$504.00 as temporary child support

(there being three minor children at the time of the hearing). Plaintiff was ordered to make the monthly mortgage payment on the home and pay the utilities; defendant was to make all other monthly payments to keep the parties current. (R009, 052)

5. The matter was tried to the Court on November 24, 1987. At the close of testimony on that date, plaintiff's counsel moved to continue the case. The Court granted a continuance for the purpose of obtaining testimony regarding values of property only. The Court ordered that if defendant provided information to enable plaintiff to continue her insurance coverage in the meantime, the case would be bifurcated, with the divorce decree being granted and reserving property issues for further trial.

6. By correspondence dated December 7, 1987, counsel for defendant submitted proof that plaintiff's health insurance could be carried over and continued following the entry of the divorce decree in this matter. Counsel for defendant also submitted proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law and a decree of divorce. (R131)

7. Defendant's proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law were signed by the Court and entered on January 11, 1988, as was defendant's proposed decree of divorce. (R137 et seq.)

8. On January 13, 1988, defendant gave notice to

plaintiff and her counsel of the entry of the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and decree. On January 19, 1988, counsel for plaintiff submitted an objection to the proposed findings, conclusions, and decree, and objected to the execution and entry of the same. Counsel for plaintiff also filed a Motion to vacate the proposed findings, conclusions, and decree, on the ground that the Court had never ruled on alimony, child support, or retirement. (R151, 155, 157, 159)

9. A further hearing on property values was held on June 7, 1988, following which the Court issued its Memorandum Decision on August 1, 1988. In its Memorandum Decision, the Court adopted and affirmed the provisions of the findings, conclusions, and decree which were signed on January 11, 1988, with the exception of alimony, which was adjusted to \$300.00 per month. The Court further established values on the properties of the parties, and divided the property in kind, giving plaintiff a judgment against the defendant in the amount of \$9,000.00, to be paid in 2 equal installments over 2 years, to balance the property division. Following the court's memorandum decision, counsel for plaintiff prepared final findings of fact and conclusions of law and an absolute decree of divorce as ordered by the Court from the provisions in defendant's proposed findings, conclusions and decree and the memorandum decision issued by the Court. The Court executed the findings, conclusions,

and decree on September 8, 1988, on which date they were entered by the Court. (R213-232)

10. On October 11, 1988, following a legal holiday the preceding day, plaintiff, through her new counsel, filed her Notice of Appeal, and filed her bond for costs on appeal. Plaintiff/Appellant's Docketing Statement was filed on November 1, 1988.

DISPOSITION AT TRIAL COURT

The ruling of the trial court was as follows:

1. Each party was granted a divorce from the other on the grounds of irreconcilable differences. (R140, 145, 229)

2. Plaintiff was granted custody of the two children who were still minors at the time of the Decree of Divorce. Based on the defendant's income, child support was established at \$197.00 per month per child. (R 138, 139, 140, 145, 221, 224, 230)

3. Defendant was employed full time at Morton Thiokol with an hourly wage of \$13.90 per hour. ((R138)

4. Plaintiff has not worked outside the home during the marriage but is capable of employment and had worked part time for the school district at approximately \$3.50 per hour. (R138, 221)

5. Defendant was ordered to provide health and accident insurance for the minor children of the marriage,

and continue life insurance on his life naming the minor children of the parties his beneficiaries; each party would be responsible for 1/2 of all medical expenses not covered by insurance; defendant was also ordered to cooperate in assisting plaintiff to retain her health and accident insurance through his employer through COBRA provisions. (R140, 141, 145, 1146, 221, 224, 230)

6. The defendant had accumulated approximately 14 years credit in the Morton Thiokol pension plan during the course of the marriage, which the Court apportioned one-half to each party. (R139, 221, 225, 231)

7. The Court found that each of the parties had received some inheritance during the course of the marriage, but each inheritance had been expended or co-mingled with other marital assets and was unidentifiable. Therefore, the Court made no distribution of inheritance receipts to either party. (R 142, 222, 226, 232)

8. The Court found that the plaintiff had incurred attorney's fees of approximately \$1,700.00, a portion of which was paid from joint funds which were accrued during the marriage. The Court also determined that the defendant had incurred attorney's fees in excess of \$2,000.00 in settlement negotiations, discovery, trial preparation and trial. The Court ordered each party to pay his or her own costs and attorney fees. (R 139, 142, 147,

226, 233)

9. The Court established the values of the marital assets as follows:

(a) The family home and lot, plus the lot east of the house, a total of 1.7 acres - \$30,000.00 (mortgage of \$3,162.00 equals net equity of \$26,388.00). (b) Mobile home and lot in Bear River City - \$26,000.00. (c) Building lot - \$11,000.00 (amount it sold for). (11/24/87 a.m. Trans. p.6) (d) Farm - \$95,500.00 (mortgage of \$46,953.00 yields net equity of \$48,547.00). (e) Vehicles and machinery (exclusive of Chevrolet and Oldsmobile) (less outstanding loans) - \$23,859.00. (f) Junk and scrap metal - \$10,000.00. (g) Household furnishings - \$3,000.00. (h) Horses and livestock - \$4,000.00. (i) Savings account - \$3,200.00. (j) Chevrolet and Oldsmobile - \$850.00. (R 215, 222-223)

10. The Court set alimony at \$300.00 per month based on "the debts, the duration of payment, duration of the marriage, plaintiff's lack of work experience and employment skills, recognizing the ages of the children, the eventual receipt of social security and retirement benefits together with income realized from the properties". The Court ordered that defendant's obligation to pay alimony would end after the death of either party; would terminate upon remarriage of the plaintiff or cohabitation; would in any event terminate upon the plaintiff's 62nd birthday and

her eligibility to begin receiving Social Security payments.
(R141, 146, 215, 223, 225, 231)

11. The Court awarded to plaintiff the following property: the family home subject to the mortgage, mobile home and lot, building lot, Chevrolet and Oldsmobile, household furnishings, savings account and \$9,000.00 judgment against defendant to equalize distribution. (R 216-217, 226, 232)

12. Defendant was awarded the farm property subject to the mortgage; the vehicles and machinery subject to the debts, including the Bronco subject to the debt owed on it; junk and scrap; horses and livestock. Defendant was ordered to pay to plaintiff \$4,500.00 within 12 months of the date of the findings and conclusions and decree, and the balance of \$4,500.00 within one year thereafter. (R 216, 217, 226, 232)

13. Defendant was ordered to assume and discharge all debts and obligations of the parties with the exception of the mortgage on the family home. (R 217, 226, 233)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The parties to this appeal were married at Logan, Utah on June 2, 1950; they had been married for 38 years at the time the Decree of Divorce was entered. Twelve children were born of the marriage, of whom eleven are still

living. Three children were minors at the time the divorce was filed; two of the children are still minors, and are in the custody of the plaintiff. (R 002, 020, 138, 221 9/22/86 p. 4, 11/24/87 a.m. p. 12-13)

2. Plaintiff was 57 years old at the initial hearing in 1986; by the time of trial she was 58 1/2 years old. (9/22/86 trans. p. 12, 11/24/87 a.m. trans. p. 84)

3. Plaintiff has developed no marketable skills during the course of the marriage, and has not worked outside of the home during the marriage. (9/22/86 p.4, 11/24/87 a.m. p. 15-16)

4. Since the beginning of divorce proceedings, plaintiff has been unable to obtain full time or even regular part time employment outside of the home, although she took a computer class, and applied for employment at Job Service, the school district, and several other places. The only employment she has obtained during the course of the proceedings was a substitute position in the school lunch program at a local junior high, which was only 3 to 4 hours per day when available. She has no expectation of being able to obtain a permanent job with the school lunch program. (R 138, 11/24/87 a.m. p. 101-102)

5. Plaintiff has had a problem with her hands being numb, which required surgery; she has also had an ulcer since approximately 1981. Plaintiff suffers from some

loss of hearing, for which she is receiving medical treatment. She has moderate hearing loss in one ear, and severe hearing loss in the other ear, which requires that she wear a hearing aid in each ear. Each hearing aid must be replaced every five to seven years, and new ear mouldings must be made at the same time. Her hearing aids cost approximately \$500.00, and batteries cost \$3.00 to \$4.00 for a battery pack which will last two weeks for each hearing aid. (9/22/86 trans. p. 3, 11/24/87 a.m. p. 49, 11/24/87 a.m. p. 77 - 80.)

6. Defendant is employed full time by Morton Thiokol. He has worked for this same company for over 14 years. At the time the proceedings were begun, his hourly wage was \$13.20 per hour; by the time of the final hearing, his income had risen to \$13.97 per hour. During many years, he worked substantial overtime. His 1987 total income, as evidenced by his tax returns, was \$38,669.00. In 1986 his taxable income was \$36,000.00; in 1985, it was \$35,000.00. (R 138, 221, 11/24/87 a.m p.70, 11/24/87 p.m. p. 114, 133; 6/7/88 trans. p. 2)

7. Defendant is also self-employed in agriculture. His farm income for the total calendar year 1985 was \$7,000.00; his farm income for 1986 through September of that year was approximately \$4,000.00; he did not provide to the plaintiff information concerning his farm

income for subsequent years. (R 062)

8. Throughout the course of the marriage, defendant has continually acquired scrap metal, damaged or inoperable farm equipment, vehicles etc. which plaintiff generally describes throughout the proceedings as "junk". Based on receipts obtained by plaintiff, defendant purchased in excess of \$21,000.00 in scrap metal from Morton Thiokol alone. (6/7/88 trans. p. 22-23, 6/7/88 ex. 1 p. 10)

9. Plaintiff estimated her total monthly expenses in 1986 to be \$1,190.00 per month. By the time of trial in November, 1987, plaintiff's expenses were \$1,350.00 per month; even without the house payment, plaintiff would need a minimum of \$1,090.00 income to meet her current expenditures. (R 014; 11/24/87 a.m. trans. p. 96-99)

10. Plaintiff had incurred \$1,700.00 attorney's fees through the time of trial, exclusive of court costs. With the additional hearing on June 7, 1988, plaintiff's attorney's fees totaled \$2,000.00 plus costs. By the time of the final hearing, plaintiff had paid \$475.00 in attorney's fees, leaving a balance of \$1,525.00 plus court costs still owing to her counsel. (11/24/87 a.m. trans. p. 83, 1/24/87 p.m. trans. p. 92; 6/7/88 p. 38-39)

11. By the date of trial, plaintiff's liquid assets had been reduced to a savings account with \$100.00 to \$200.00 in it, and a checking account with just in excess of

\$300.00 (the minimum balance for that account). She had used the balance of her savings to pay bills. Defendant too had used some of his savings to pay bills, but still had his regular income from Morton Thiokol. (11/24/87 a.m. trans. p. 83 - 84, 100-101, 11/24/87 p.m. trans. p. 134)

12. Plaintiff inherited \$11,336.90 in cash from her father, \$3,000.00 at a rate of \$1,000.00 per year for 3 years prior to the death of plaintiff's father, \$8,336.90 following his death. (R -107, 108; 11/24/87 a.m. trans. p. 58)

13. Each time plaintiff received funds from her father or his estate, defendant requested to borrow the funds she had received in order to make payments which were due on various obligations, promising her that he would repay the funds with interest. Defendant has failed to repay any of the funds at any time, or to pay to plaintiff any interest. (11/24/87 a.m. trans. p. 59 - 60, 64, 67 - 68)

14. Defendant inherited approximately 9 acres of property from his family. At the time of trial, the parties owned an unrecorded interest in 1 acre, which they had sold on contract for \$11,000.00. The balance of the property had previously been sold by the defendant, and the proceeds used to purchase "junk", scrap metal and various implements and/or equipment which, by the time of the trial, generally

were inoperable and worthless except for their scrap value. (11/24/87 p.m. trans. p. 103 - 104, 11/24/87 a.m. trans. p. 90)

15. During the marriage the parties acquired a homestead at Elwood, consisting of a house on .82 acres, with an adjacent unimproved lot of .79 acres. This property was purchased from the defendant's father during the marriage, but not inherited. (R. 075, 11/24/87 a.m. trans. p. 89) The home is in poor to very poor condition, needing the following repairs: new carpets, new linoleum, replace the cabinets, paint the interior and exterior of the home, repair water damaged floor and window in kitchen, new sink and stove, new siding and shingles on exterior. (11/24/87 p.m. trans. p. 10; 6/7/88 trans. p 12 -13; 6/7/88 ex. 1 p. 7) Plaintiff's appraiser estimated repair costs to the exterior would amount to \$4,688.00, while interior repair costs would amount to \$6,943.00. (6/7/88 ex. 1 p. 7) The home was appraised at \$23,000.00 by plaintiff's expert, Reed Willis. (6/7/88 ex. 1 p. 18) Defendant's expert, Troy Miller, a real estate broker, valued the Elwood house and property on the single lot of .82 acre at \$32,000.00. Defendant valued the extra lot separately at \$6,000.00. (11/24/87 p.m. trans. p. 6-7) At that same date, the Box Elder County Assessor's fair market value figure given for the home and both lots was \$21,536.00. Defendant's expert

testified the assessor's valuation was usually 70% of the resale value of the property.

16. The parties also own a 1/2 acre lot with a double wide mobile home on it in Bear River City, Utah. Plaintiff's expert valued this lot and home at \$23,500.00, stating that the roof and windows have water leaks and the carpets were only in fair condition. He estimated cost for repairs to bring the mobile home up to sale condition would be \$1,900.00. (6/7/88 ex. 1, p 8, 18-19) Defendant's expert valued the same property at \$26,000.00. (11/24/87 p.m. trans. p. 7, 15) The parties had previously sold this parcel on contract for \$24,000.00 plus a motorhome of unspecified value, with payments at the rate of \$250.00 per month. However, the buyers had defaulted and it has been necessary for the parties to retake this property and resell it. (9/22/86 trans. p. 20)

17. The parties own 2 parcels of agricultural property, of 154 acres and 148.6 acres respectively. The property has been used as pasturage by the defendant for many years, for his own livestock and that of others. The grass, when cut, also generates income for the parties. (11/24/87 p.m. trans. p. 160 - 161) Defendant has the right to use water associated with the property, but does not actually own water shares for the property; cost to him to purchase such shares would be \$9,810.00, and he would have

to purchase such shares before he could sell the property. (6/7/88 trans. p. 20, 6/7/88 ex. 1 p. 10) Plaintiff's expert, Reed Willis, valued this farm property at \$122,500.00 less the amount required to buy the water shares, for a net value of the farm property of \$112,690.00. (6/7/88 trans. p. 20) Defendant valued the entire parcel of agricultural property at \$250.00 per acre, yielding a value for both parcels of just over \$75,000.00. (11/24/87 p.m. trans. p. 96- 97) Defendant's valuation was based on purchases by Carl Hansen and Curtis Christensen of parcels next to the Munns properties. Id. Both purchases were from the Federal Land Bank, of properties under foreclosure, and were made by sealed bid rather than a hands off-market sale. (11/24/87 trans. pp. 50 - 52, 65 - 67)

18. Defendant claimed that all the household furniture and furnishings together were worth \$5,000.00. (11/24/87 p.m. trans. p. 105) Plaintiff stated that most of the furniture in the home was in "lousy" condition, and that her intention was to give it away. Most of the furniture was second-hand. She valued the furniture at \$100.00. Some individual appliances which she had replaced were valued separately: the washer, the refrigerator, the microwave. All other appliances she valued as worthless. (11/24/87 a.m. trans. p.p. 52-53) Plaintiff's expert, Reed Willis, in his appraisal (6/7/88 ex. 1 p. 7) stated "the

furniture was in poor condition and would have no garage sale value except for a 1982 refrigerator and 1980 microwave oven". He valued the entire household furnishings at \$390.00.

19. The assets of the parties acquired during the marriage also include vehicles and machinery, junk and scrap metal, horses and livestock, savings account, Chevrolet, Oldsmobile, and Bronco. (R 002, 003)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The attorney's fees incurred by the plaintiff were reasonable for the case, and for the time invested in the case. The evidence shows that plaintiff was in need of assistance in order to pay her attorney's fees. Therefore, it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to refuse to award plaintiff any of her attorney's fees.

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