1988

Mary Munns v. Lowell Shirley Munns : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. A portion of the plaintiff's attorney's fees was paid from joint funds leaving a balance of approximately \$1600. Using the court's valuations in its property division, the plaintiff was awarded a total of \$79,888.00 and defendant was awarded \$77,406.00. This creates a difference in favor of the plaintiff in the amount of \$2,482.00. Part of the plaintiff's property is in the form of two substantial cash payments to be made to her from the defendant. The court's decision to classify this as property division which favors the plaintiff rather than as an award of attorney's fees, does not constitute an abuse of discretion.

2. The Findings, Memorandum Decision, and evidentiary records show that the court seriously weighed and considered the required three factors in formulating its alimony award. The order formulated by the court was carefully crafted to ensure the economic survival of both parties. The amount of alimony awarded to the plaintiff was adequate and fair under all of the circumstances presented by the evidence.

3. The trial court divided the property in such a way as to award the plaintiff nearly \$80,000.00 in debt free assets,

which were the assets of the marriage most easily convertible to cash. It was reasonable to allow the defendant a two-year period in which to pay offsetting value to the plaintiff, because the farm property is in imminent danger of foreclosure and there are no funds immediately available.

4. The defendant should be awarded his costs and attorney's fees on appeal. The appellants contentions are not supported by the record and in fact contradict her own testimony and that of her expert witnesses.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN NOT AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES TO EITHER SIDE.

The Utah Supreme Court has repeatedly stated:

"The decision to make such an award (attorney's fees), together with the amount thereof, rests primarily with the sound discretion of the trial court." Kerr v. Kerr, 610 P.2d 1380, 1384 (Utah 1980). See also Adams v. Adams, 593 P.2d 147 (Utah 1979); Bader v. Bader, 18 Utah 2d 407, 424 P.2d 150 (1967).

On this point as well as in the other issues raised on appeal, plaintiff seems to be taking the position that merely because the trial court did not do as she requested, it abused its discretion.

The trial court found as of January 11, 1988, that the plaintiff had incurred attorney's fees of approximately \$1700.00, a portion of which was paid from joint funds accrued during the marriage, and that the defendant had incurred attorney's fees in excess of \$2,000.00. (R 139, 142, 147, 226 and 233). It appears the only issue which is raised is whether the plaintiff's need for an award of attorney's fees was so great that the court's decision constituted an abuse of discretion.

In considering the issue of need, it is appropriate to consider not only the income of the plaintiff but also the nature and value of assets awarded to her. Based upon the court's findings of value, the plaintiff was awarded \$70,800.00 in property plus cash payments from the defendant totalling \$9,000.00. The property awarded to plaintiff is virtually debt free, whereas defendant was ordered to assume over \$58,000.00 in debts. The time delay making \$4,500.00 due in 1989 and an additional \$4,500.00 payable in 1990 was reasonable under the circumstances.

The court awarded plaintiff real and personal property and a substantial cash payment in a manner that produced a \$2,482.00 surplus or excess to the plaintiff. This amount is substantially more than the attorney's fees which plaintiff sought to be awarded. The fact that the court did not call this differential

an award of attorney's fees does not diminish the fact that the court fashioned an equitable solution.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT, AFTER CONSIDERING ALL REQUIRED FACTORS, MADE A PROPER AND EQUITABLE ALIMONY AWARD.

Numerous Utah appellate cases hold that the trial judge must be allowed wide latitude of discretion in matters relating to alimony, and the court's judgment should not be disturbed unless the facts show it works a manifest inequity. Whitehead v. Whitehead, 16 Utah 2d 179, 397 P.2d 987. See also Gill v. Gill, 718 P.2d 779 (Utah 1986); Bushell v. Bushell, 649 P.2d 85 (Utah 1982).

A. The Trial Court Considered the Proper Factors in Fixing the Alimony Award.

This court in Lee v. Lee, 744 P.2d 1378 (Utah App. 1987) held that the same three factors must be considered in fixing alimony as appellant has cited in her brief. Appellant's brief tacitly acknowledges that the trial court considered these factors, but appellant argues the court's decision manifest a clear abuse of discretion. When considered in light of the evidence presented to the court, these factors show that the court's decision was both reasonable and fair.

1. Plaintiff's Financial Condition and Needs.

Plaintiff's testimony at trial was that her monthly living expenses for herself and her two minor children were \$1,090.00. This excludes the \$259.00 house payment, which appellant acknowledges has now been eliminated. The court awarded the plaintiff \$197.00 per month child support for the minor child, Sharla Munns, which support will continue through May, 1990. The court additionally awarded the plaintiff \$197.00 per month child support in behalf of the minor child, Sheldon Munns, which support shall continue through September, 1993 (R 138, 139, and 230). The court additionally ordered the defendant to pay to plaintiff the sum of \$300.00 per month alimony. (R 231).

There was considerable testimony at trial that the double-wide mobile home located in Bear River City had rented out at \$250.00 to \$300.00 per month and could be so rented in the future. (T. 11/24/87 p.m. p. 115.)

The plaintiff presumably has or will receive \$5500.00 from the sale of the unrecorded interest in the building lot in Elwood. Additionally, the plaintiff is awarded a building lot next to the home which could be sold for \$6,000.00 to \$10,000.00. Finally, the plaintiff will receive during the next two years the sum of \$9,000.00 in cash payments as a property settlement.

These three assets, which easily could be converted to cash, have a value of at least \$20,000.00. Assuming the stability of present interest rates, the plaintiff could place this \$20,000.00 in a federally insured savings institution and earn an interest income of approximately \$150.00 per month.

The mathematical result of these figures is as follows:

\$ 394.00	child support
\$ 300.00	alimony
\$ 250.00	rental income
<u>\$ 150.00</u>	interest income
\$1,094.00	Total Income

Thus Judge Low was more than justified in fixing the alimony award at the sum of \$300.00. An analysis of the plaintiff's needs shows that this amount will provide her with all of the income which she testified she needed, even if she were not to receive any income from her own employment.

2. The Ability of the Party Seeking Alimony to Produce a Sufficient Income for Herself.

The plaintiff's ability to produce sufficient income for herself includes the ability of assets owned by her to generate income. Thus the court was entitled to conclude that the assets awarded to the plaintiff could reasonably generate approximately \$400.00 per month income without dissipating any of the principal. When this figure is added to the amount of child

support as fixed by the child support schedule, it shows that the remaining amount needed by plaintiff to reach her stated income needs of \$1,090.00 per month is \$296.00. The \$300.00 per month alimony award is therefore directly on target.

The evidence at trial was undisputed that the plaintiff is capable of part-time employment. Appellant's brief made numerous references to health problems of the plaintiff. The claims in appellant's brief overstated the extent of the problems and did not conform to the evidence. The following excerpt from the transcript is useful on this point. Defendant's counsel is cross-examining the plaintiff.

"Q: Counsel asked you if you could go to work for the school lunch program. In reference to the school lunch program, does your hearing affect your job?

A: No.

Q: Does your ulcer affect your job?

A: I don't think it would.

Q: Do your hands?

A: Well this one that I just got operated on, it was pretty sore, but they're getting better."
(T. 11/24/87 p.101, lines 14-22).

Concerning her part-time employment with the school lunch program, the plaintiff admitted under cross-examination that if

she were hired as a regular employee, it may generate as much as \$250.00 or \$300.00 per month. (T. 11/24/87 a.m., pp. 86 and 87).

The trial court would clearly have been justified in finding that the plaintiff has the ability to produce approximately \$300.00 per month income, and that therefore her alimony need was actually lower than the \$300.00 per month awarded.

3. The Ability of the Other Spouse to Pay Support.

The defendant's Exhibit No. 18 as well as his testimony at trial (T. 11/24/87 p.m. p. 114-118) demonstrate that the defendant's base take-home pay is \$1935.00 per month. At the time of trial, the debts which were ordered assumed by the defendant plus the child support and alimony obligations left the defendant with the sum of \$258.52 for his monthly living expenses. This sum of \$258.52 was to cover his housing, food, clothing, fuel, insurance and personal expenses. The Bronco payment has now been completed, but the defendant's alimony obligation was increased to \$300.00, the net effect of these developments is that the defendant now has a total of \$410.83 from his base take-home on which he must live. The defendant works overtime whenever possible to create additional income in order to survive. However, the most recent evidence showed that

his income from overtime had been practically eliminated. (T. 6/7/88 p. 7).

Throughout the proceedings the plaintiff contended she was seeking \$850.00 per month alimony. No basis or justification for this figure was ever provided. When added with the child support obligation it substantially exceeds the monthly financial needs to which she testified. Yet plaintiff, on appeal, claims the defendant has the ability to pay her \$850.00 per month alimony. Such an assertion is outrageous and indefensible. In light of the evidence presented to the court it is clear that the District Judge properly considered each of the three factors relevant to the computation of an alimony award, and crafted an award which was both fair and reasonable. If anyone suffers economic hardship as a result of the court's alimony award, it is certainly the defendant and not the plaintiff.

B. Terminating the Alimony When Social Security and Retirement Pension Income Become Available Was Reasonable.

Addendum H of the appellant's brief clearly demonstrates that upon attaining her 62nd birthday, the plaintiff will be entitled to receive social security benefits in an amount of at least \$204.00 per month. That is a projected amount using today's figures. The actual amount could increase due to the defendant's earnings and contributions to the social security

system during the next three years, or due to simple cost of living adjustments in the benefits.

The plaintiff was additionally awarded a one-half interest in all retirement benefits accrued during the marriage in the Morton-Thiokol Pension Plan. Neither of plaintiff's attorneys has yet submitted a Qualified Domestic Relations Order to the court, although paragraph 7 of the Decree specifies that the court will enter such an order once it is prepared by plaintiff's counsel (R. 231). Once such an order has been entered, the plaintiff would be free to select from among several methods of distribution authorized under the retirement plan. She would not be restricted, even though the defendant may choose a different method of distribution or may continue employment after she commences receiving benefits. IRC § 414(p)(3). (Full text Addendum A). Attached to this brief as Addendum B is a copy of a letter from the Morton-Thiokol, Inc. Pension Plan computing the defendant's retirement benefits as of September 8, 1988, the date of the final Divorce Decree. The computation shows that the plaintiff would receive the sum of \$626.93 per month at age 65. The plaintiff's one-half of this amount would be \$313.00 per month. Assuming a discount due to the plaintiff beginning to draw her benefits at age 62, the plan can still be reasonably expected to yield her at least \$250.00 per month.

The criteria to be considered by the court in fixing an alimony award are at that point in time sufficiently changed to justify the termination of further alimony. When the plaintiff reaches age 62 in calendar year 1991, her needs will decrease as one of the minor children obtains majority. The \$1,090.00 per month need to which she testified at trial, might conceivably reduce to approximately \$970.00 per month for her and the remaining one minor child.

Secondly, in 1991, the plaintiff's ability to produce a sufficient income for herself increases. A scenario of the plaintiff's 1991 monthly income is as follows:

\$ 197.00	child support
\$ 0	alimony
\$ 250.00	rental income
\$ 150.00	interest income
\$ 204.00	Social Security (estimate)
<u>\$ 250.00</u>	Morton-Thiokol Pension (estimate)
\$1,051.00	Total Income
plus (?)	Any income earned by plaintiff from part-time employment

The plaintiff incorrectly argues that alimony should supplement her income during her retirement. The Utah Supreme Court has previously addressed this issue as to whether alimony should continue during retirement and has stated:

"Here, the thrust of defendant's testimony is that she needs this alimony in order to augment her retirement income...

one of the functions of alimony is not to provide retirement income. We do not want to confuse alimony with annuity." Dehm v. Dehm, 545 P.2d 525, 528, 529 (Utah 1976)

In this present case the plaintiff will clearly receive two separate annuities in the form of social security and the Morton-Thiokol, Inc. Pension Plan. All of the evidence indicates that at age 62 the plaintiff will be able to provide for her financial needs.

III

THE TRIAL COURT MADE A FAIR AND EQUITABLE PROPERTY DIVISION

The appellant's brief contains the following summary and observations concerning review of property divisions.

"The Utah Supreme Court has also stated that the duty of the trial court is to 'make a distribution of property and income so that the parties may readjust their lives to their new circumstances as well as possible.' Gardner vs. Gardner 748 p. 2d 1076, 1078. Obviously, in order to meet this goal, the trial court must have considerable flexibility in its distributions.

The trial court in this case has carefully crafted a property distribution plan which appears to benefit the parties equally." (Appellant's brief, pp. 35-36).
(Emphasis Added)

Appellant concedes that the factors which should be considered by a trial court when it allocates property and debts were, in fact, considered by the District court in this case.

Appellant asserts, however, that the District court should have ordered all of the property and assets sold and the proceeds divided evenly between the parties. This specious proposal overlooks the very root of the litigation. These two parties simply do not agree on things. It would be impossible to get both sides to agree on a price at which any particular item would be sold. The trial court would become the referee for literally hundreds of disputes over individual sales.

Appellant argues that the court had insufficient evidence concerning the value of the various assets. Trial courts must decide matters on the evidence which is presented to them. If there was any inadequacy in the evidence of values, the fault lies with the plaintiff and her counsel. Plaintiff and her attorney had several months advance notice that the divorce trial would be held on November 24, 1987. On that date she and her attorney came to court with numerous documents, including two written "appraisals". It was obvious that no effort had been made to have the individuals who prepared those appraisals present in court to testify. Plaintiff and her attorney spent much of the day trying to introduce into evidence documents which were plainly hearsay. Near the end of the trial on November 24, the following exchange occurred.

"Mr. Vlahos: My only concern is values, and I will be honest with you, your Honor. Mr. Munns won't even give us--not even on a gun--he won't even give me a value.

The Court: No, but he's given more values than your client has today. I think it cuts both ways." (T. 11/24/87 p.m. p. 184, lines 5-11).

At the conclusion of the November 24 trial, plaintiff's attorney asked the court for a further hearing at which to present evidence. The following exchange occurred.

"The Court: ...if Mr. Vlahos had rested his case--I don't believe he ever had.

Mr. Vlahos: No.

The Court: --then I would deny the motion. It may seem like a technical matter, but I think it has to turn on technical matters..." (T. 11/24/87 p.m. pp. 186-187).

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